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NOTE ABOUT REFERENCES TO KCAP FINANCIAL, INC.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual ftet”), the “Company”, “KCAP”, “we”, “us” and “ourtefer to KCAP
Financial, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiari€§AP Funding LLC and KCAP Senior Funding | Holding$ C, unless the
context otherwise requires.

NOTE ABOUT TRADEMARKS

KCAP Financial, Inc., our logo and other trademarkKCAP Financial, Inc. are the property of KCAR&ncial, Inc. All
other trademarks or trade names referred to in&hirual Report are the property of their respectiwmers.

NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report includes forward-looking statese The matters discussed in this Annual Repsriyell as in future
oral and written statements by management of KCiRri€ial, Inc., that are forward-looking statemears based on current
management expectations that involve substansie$ ind uncertainties which could cause actualtsasudiffer materially
from the results expressed in, or implied by, tHeseard-looking statements. Forward-looking stateis relate to future
events or our future financial performance. We galheidentify forward-looking statements by termiagy such as “may,”
“will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,“could,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,” “conterplates,” “believes,”
“estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continuedr the negative of these terms or other similardspalthough not all forward-
looking statements include these words. Importastiaptions include our ability to originate newestments, achieve certain
margins and levels of profitability, the availabyjilof additional capital, and the ability to maiimt@ertain debt to asset ratios. In
light of these and other uncertainties, the incnf a projection or forward-looking statementhis Annual Report should not
be regarded as a representation by us that ous plambjectives will be achieved. The forward-loukistatements contained in
this Annual Report include statements as to:

« our future operating results;

* our business prospects and the prospects ofxating and prospective portfolio companies;

« the return or impact of current and future inuests;

e our contractual arrangements and other relatipashith third parties;

« the dependence of our future success on the @es@nomy and its impact on the industries in Whie invest;
« the financial condition and ability of our exisgi and prospective portfolio companies to achibed tobjectives;
* our expected financings and investments;

« our regulatory structure and tax treatment;

e our ability to operate as a business developmampany and a regulated investment company, inoutiie impact of
changes in laws or regulations governing our opEator the operations of our portfolio companiasluding Katonah
Debt Advisors, L.L.C. and Trimaran Advisors, L.L.@the “Asset Manager Affiliates”);

« the adequacy of our cash resources and workipiteta

« the timing of cash flows, if any, from the opéwat of our portfolio companies, including the AsBtanager Affiliates;
« the impact of a protracted decline in the ligtyidif credit markets on our business;

* the impact of fluctuations in interest rates am business;

e the valuation of our investments in portfolio quanies, particularly those having no liquid tradingrket;

e our ability to recover unrealized losses;
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« market conditions and our ability to access adidi capital; and
e the timing, form and amount of any dividend dsitions.

For a discussion of factors that could cause owrahcesults to differ from forward-looking statemt® contained in this
Annual Report, please see the discussion undek‘fRistors” in Item 1A. You should not place undakance on these
forward-looking statements. The forward-lookingtetaents made in this Annual Report relate onlynts as of the date on
which the statements are made. We undertake ngatiolh to update any forward-looking statemeneftect events or
circumstances occurring after the date of this AxhiReport unless required by law.

Explanatory Note

This Form 10-K includes the restatement of centdithe Company’s previously issued consolidatedritial statements
and selected financial data. It also amends prsiydiled management’s discussion and analysisnainicial condition and
results of operations and other disclosures fop#réds presented in this Form 10-K. As indicateNote 2,Restatementin
the Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsCtimapany corrected certain errors in prior peripdarily related to
accounting errors in the recognition of tax-basisdgénd income from and unrealized gains/(losses)oor investment in our
Asset Manager Affiliates. In this Form 10-K, we rtbiore have restated the following financial infation as of and for the
periods (collectively, the “Restated Periods”) mbite the table below.

Type of Financial Information: Date or Period:

Consolidated balance sheets As of December 3B 20

Consolidated statements of operations, changestin nYears ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
assets, and cash flows

Selected financial data and financial highlights Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Unaudited quarterly financial information Quarters ended September 30, 2014, June 30, 2@14 an
March 31, 2014 and each quarter in the year ended
December 31, 2013

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial As of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
condition and results of operations 2012

We believe that presenting all of the amended asthted information regarding the Restated Perottss Form 10-K
allows investors to review all pertinent data isirgle report. In addition, the Company’s Quartéthports on Form 10-Q to be
filed during 2015 will include the restated 2014marable prior quarter and year to date periodshs¥e not filed and do not
intend to file amendments to (i) our Quarterly Répon Form 10-Q for the first three quarterly pds in the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 or 2010 oo\ii)Annual Report on Form 10-K for the years enbedember 31, 2013,
2012, 2011, 2010 (collectively, the “Affected Peist). Accordingly, investors should rely only oretfinancial information and
other disclosures regarding the Restated Periotgsi-orm 10-K or in future filings with the SE@s(applicable), and not on
any previously issued or filed reports, earnindgsases or similar communications relating to thomeods.
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The combined impact of the adjustments and spedifie items in the Affected Periods resulting frtm restatement is set
forth in Note 2 Restatementin the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemehtkis Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
following items of this Form 10-K are impacted aault of the restatement.

* Partl, Iltem 1A, Risk Factors

« Partll, Item 6, Selected Financial Data

e Partll, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Asial of Financial Condition and Results of Operagio
e Partll, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplaiary Data

« Partll, Item 9A, Controls and Procedures

e Part 1V, Item 15, Exhibits, Financial Statemenh&dules Explanatory Note
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PART |

Item 1. Business

GENERAL

We are an internally managed, non-diversified desed investment company that is regulated as &8ss Development
Company, or BDC under the Investment Company Adi9g0 (the “1940 Act”). We have three principales®f investments:

»  First, we originate, structure, and invest inisesecured term loans, mezzanine debt and seleqgity securities
primarily in privately-held middle market compani@ise “Debt Securities Portfolio”).

* Second, we have invested in wholly-owned assetag@ment companies (Katonah Debt Advisors, L.Li@. Brimaran
Advisors, L.L.C., collectively the “Asset Manageffifates”).

e Third, we invest in debt and equity securitiesiesd by collateralized loan obligation funds (“CEOnds”) managed by
our Asset Manager Affiliates or by other asset ngangs (the “CLO Fund Securities”).

In our Debt Securities Portfolio, our investmengegtive is to generate current income and, to selesxtent, capital
appreciation from the investments made by our meidahrket business in senior secured term loangzane® debt and
selected equity investments in privately-held medallarket companies. We define the middle markebawrising companies
with earnings before interest, taxes, depreciadimhamortization (“EBITDA”) of $10 million to $50 iftion and/or total debt of
$25 million to $150 million. We primarily invest first and second lien term loans which, becaugbaeif priority in a
company’s capital structure, we expect will hawedo default rates and higher rates of recoveryriofcipal if there is a default
and which we expect will create a stable streaintefest income. The investments in our Debt S&esrPortfolio are all or
predominantly below investment grade, and havelwdptiee characteristics with respect to the issiedpacity to pay interest
and repay principal. While our primary investmentufs is on making loans to, and selected equitgstments in, privately-
held middle market companies, we may also investher investments such as loans to smaller corapamilarger, publicly-
traded companies, high-yield bonds and distressebtiskcurities. We may also receive warrants aoogto purchase common
stock in connection with our debt investments.

With respect to our Asset Manager Affiliates invesht, we expect to receive recurring cash distidmstand to generate
capital appreciation through the addition of newQCEunds managed by our Asset Manager Affiliateg Akset Manager
Affiliates manage CLO Funds that invest in broasimdicated loans, high-yield bonds and other ciadttuments.
Collectively, the Asset Manager Affiliates have eppmately $3.0 billion of par value assets undanagement. The Asset
Manager Affiliates are registered under the Investtiddvisers Act of 1940 (the “Advisers Act”), aatk managed
independently from the Company by a separate partieanagement team.

In addition, our investments in CLO Fund Securijtighich are primarily made up of minority investnt®im the
subordinated securities or preferred stock of Clu@ds raised and managed by our Asset Managerai&#j are anticipated to
provide the Company with recurring cash distribasi@nd complement the growth of our Asset Manadfiates.

Because we are internally managed by our execaffi@ers under the supervision of our Board of Biogs and do not
depend on a third party investment advisor, wea@ay investment advisory fees, but instead iticeroperating costs
associated with employing investment and portfol@nagement professionals. We believe that oumatigrmanaged structure
provides us with a beneficial operating expensgctiire when compared to other publicly-traded amdately-held investment
firms that are externally managed. Our internalbniaged structure allows us the opportunity to kegerour non-interest
operating expenses as we grow our investment piortféor the years ended December 31, 2014 and,2b&3atio of our total
operating expenses, excluding interest expense pascentage of our quarterly average total assetsapproximately 2%.
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As a BDC, we are required to comply with regulat@guirements, including limitations on our usalebt. We are
permitted to, and expect to continue to, financeimwestments through borrowings. However, as a BR€are only generally
allowed to borrow amounts such that our asset emegras defined in the 1940 Act, equals at lea@¥@8fter such borrowing.
The 1940 Act also generally prohibits us from deotaany cash dividend or distribution on any clageur capital stock if our
asset coverage is below 200% at the time of thiaddion of the dividend or distribution.

We intend to grow our portfolio of assets by rajsatditional capital, including through the prudesé of leverage
available to us. Because we also recognize the toelealve funds available for operating our busirssbsto make investments,
we seek to have adequate liquidity at all timesaeer normal cyclical swings in funding availalyiland to allow us to meet
abnormal and unexpected funding requirements. res@t, we may hold varying amounts of cash andrahort-term
investments from time-to-time for liquidity purpase

We were formed in August 2006, as Kohlberg Cagid@lporation. In December 2006, we completed odiainpublic
offering (“IPO”), which raised net proceeds of apgmately $200 million after the exercise of thedarwriters’ over-allotment
option. In connection with our IPO, we issued aditohal 3,484,333 shares of our common stock thexge for the
ownership interests of Katonah Debt Advisors arthae CLO Fund Securities.

In April 2008, the Company completed a rights affgrthat resulted in the issuance of 3.1 millioargls of our common
stock, and net proceeds of $27 million.

On February 29, 2012, the Company purchased Trimadaisors, L.L.C. (“Trimaran Advisors”), a CLO mager similar
to Katonah Debt Advisors, with assets under managewf approximately $1.5 billion, for total consrdtion of $13.0 million
in cash and 3,600,000 shares of the Company’s conatozk. Contemporaneous with the acquisition ah@ran Advisors, the
Company acquired from Trimaran Advisors equityriests in certain CLO Funds managed by Trimaran gafgifor an
aggregate purchase price of $12.0 million in cAshof December 31, 2014, the Asset Manager Afélatad approximately
$3.0 billion of par value assets under management.

On July 11, 2012, we changed our name from Kohl@apital Corporation to KCAP Financial, Inc.

On February 14, 2013, the Company completed a poffiering of 5,232,500 shares of common stockciwhincluded the
underwriters’ full exercise of their option to phese up to 682,500 shares of common stock, ate pfi$9.75 per share,
raising approximately $51.0 million in gross pradgeln conjunction with this offering, the Compaaigo sold 200,000 shares
of common stock to a member of its Board of Direstat a price of $9.31125 per share, raising apmprately $1.9 million in
gross proceeds.

On October 6, 2014, the Company priced a followpohlic offering of 3.0 million shares of its commsiock at a price of
$8.02 per share. The offering raised net procetdppmroximately $23.8 million, net of underwritimiiscounts and offering
expenses.

Including employees of our Asset Manager Affiliate® employ an experienced team of 16 investmefepsionals and 27
total staff members. Dayl W. Pearson, our PresidadtChief Executive Officer, and one of our dicest has been in the
financial services industry for over 38 years. Dgrihe past 24 years, Mr. Pearson has focused aéradsisively on the middle
market and has originated, structured and undeenrdver $7 billion of debt and equity securiti@gsJon Corless, our Chief
Investment Officer with primary responsibility fire Debt Securities Portfolio, has managed investipertfolios in excess of
$4 billion at several institutions and has beepaasible for managing portfolios of leveraged lgdnigh-yield bonds,
mezzanine securities and middle market loans. Digknih Mazzitelli is the President and portfoliomager of the Asset
Manager Affiliates. He has over 20 years of expexewithin the credit markets, with most of hisesarfocused on the
leveraged finance markets. Edward U. Gilpin, ouie€Rinancial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer, ixan in financial
services for nearly 30 years, with significant exgrece in overseeing the financial operations ambrting for asset
management businesses, including the fair valueusnting of CLO securities owned by them.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Under the investment company rules and regulatiamsuant to Article 6 of Regulation S-X and thedficial Standards
Board Accounting Standards Codification 9B@ancial Services — Investment Compai(®&SC 946), we are precluded from
consolidating portfolio company investments, indghgdthose in which we have a controlling interestiess the portfolio
company is another investment company. An exceptidhis general principle in ASC 946 occurs if @gn a controlled
operating company that provides all or substagtill of its services directly to us, or to an istraent company of ours. Other
than KCAP Funding, Kohlberg Capital Funding | LUGCAP Senior Funding | Holdings LLC and KCAP Senkamding |
LLC, none of the investments made by us qualifytiide exception. Therefore, our portfolio investrisgincluding our
investments in the Asset Manager Affiliates, angied on the balance sheet at fair value with adjustments to fair value
recognized as “Net Change in Unrealized Appreaiatidepreciation)” in our statement of operationsiluhe investment is
exited, at which point any gain or loss on exitgslassified and recognized as a “Net Realized @aiss) from Investments.”

We have elected to be treated for U.S. federalnmectax purposes as a Regulated Investment ComfRahy’f under the
Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) and intend terag in a manner to maintain our RIC tax treatm&otordingly, we
generally will not pay corporate-level U.S. feddralome taxes on any net ordinary tax-basis taxalcleme or capital gains
that we timely distribute to our shareholders asdéinds. To maintain our RIC tax treatment, we nmisét the specified
source-of-income and asset diversification requiets and distribute annually at least 90% of otiondinary tax-basis
taxable income and realized net short-term cagéals in excess of realized net long-term capitsgés, if any, for each year.

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the symbol “KCAP.” The net assdtig per
share of our common stock at December 31, 2014b&#8t. On December 31, 2014, the last reportedpsade of a share of
our common stock on The NASDAQ Global Select Maxkas $6.82. In addition, our 7.375% notes due Z00.875% Notes
Due 2019") are traded on the New York Stock Excleamgder the symbol “KAP.”

Our Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at ®2#dison Avenue, 8 Floor, New York, New York 10017, and our
telephone number is (212) 455-8300. We maintairebsite on the Internet hattp://www.kcapfinancial.comThe information
contained in our website is not incorporated bemefice into this Annual Report. We make availabl®othrough our website
certain reports and amendments to those repottsvthéile with or furnish to the SEC in accordanti¢h the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). Thesdude our annual reports on Form 10-K, our quartexports on Form 10-
Q and our current reports on Form 8-K. We makeittit@mation available on our website free of cleaag soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file the infation with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

Competitive Advantages

We believe that we can successfully compete wiieroproviders of capital in the markets in which eeenpete for the
following reasons:

* Internally managed structure and significant manageent resource. We are internally managed by our executive
officers under the supervision of our Board of Biogs and do not depend on a third party investradnisor. As a
result, we do not pay investment advisory feesahaof our income is available to pay our operatiogts, which
include employing investment and portfolio managenmeofessionals, and to make distributions tostackholders.
We believe that our internally managed structuo¥isles us with a beneficial operating expense &ireavhen
compared to other publicly traded and privatelydhalyestment firms that are externally managed,@amdnternally
managed structure allows us the opportunity torksye our non-interest operating expenses as we guowmvestment
portfolio.

< Multiple sourcing capabilities for middle market irestment:.. We have multiple sources of loans, mezzanine
investments and equity investments through ourstrigiuelationships.
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< Disciplined investment proce«. We employ a rigorous credit review and due ditige process which our senior
management has developed over an average of apyai®ly 25 years of investing experience.

« Investments across a wide variety of industr. Our Debt Security Portfolio is spread acrossli#ferent industries ar
84 different entities with an average par balareeipvestment of approximately $3.6 million.

e Significant equity ownership and alignment of incémes. Our Directors and senior management team ansethier
management team of our Asset Manager Affiliategtiogr have a significant equity interest in the @any, ensuring
that their incentives are strongly aligned withgbaf our stockholders.

e 100% ownership of Asset Manager AffiliatesOur CLO Fund investments and management of thaseises througt
the Asset Manager Affiliates provide us with a caiye advantage by creating synergies with ouegtment
operations and a source of recurring distributiashcflows.

Investment Portfolios

Our investment portfolio generates investment ineowhich is generally used to pay principal anénest on our
borrowings, operating expenses, and to fund oudeinds. Our investment portfolio consists of thpeenary components: the
Debt Securities Portfolio, the CLO Fund Securiiesl our investment in our wholly owned Asset Mamaféliates.

Debt Securities Portfolio.We target privately-held middle market companies trave strong historical cash flows,
experienced management teams and identifiable efeshdable market positions in industries with pesitlynamics. We
generally target companies that generate positisd ows because we look to cash flows as thegmyirsource for servicing
debt.

We employ a disciplined approach in the selectiwhmonitoring of our investments. Generally, wetdrinvestments that
will generate a current return through interesbime to provide for stability in our shareholdertdlsitions and place less
reliance on realized capital gains from our invesita. Our investment philosophy is focused on pvasg capital with an
appropriate return profile relative to risk. Ouv@stment due diligence and selection generallydeswn an underlying issuer’s
net cash flow after capital expenditures to seritkeebt rather than on multiples of net inconauations or other broad
benchmarks which frequently miss the nuances d@$sarer’s business and prospective financial perdmece. We also generally
avoid concentrations in any one industry or issis.manage risk by following our internal creditipes and procedures.

When we extend senior secured term loans, we ilbgally take a security interest in the availassets of the portfolio
company, including the equity interests of its sdiasies, which we expect to help mitigate the tis&t we will not be repaid.
Nonetheless, there is a possibility that our lieald be subordinated to claims of other creditStsucturally, mezzanine debt
ranks subordinate in priority of payment to semé@m loans and is often unsecured. Relative totgguiezzanine debt ranks
senior to common and preferred equity in a borrésveapital structure. Typically, mezzanine debt bkesnents of both debt
and equity instruments, offering the fixed retuimhe form of interest payments associated wittaa, while providing an
opportunity to participate in the capital appreaociatof a borrower, if any, through an equity intrthat is typically in the form
of equity purchased at the time the mezzanine iDa@paid or warrants to purchase equity at a éutlate at a fixed cost.
Mezzanine debt generally earns a higher return ¢$kaior secured debt due to its higher risk prafild usually less restrictive
covenants. The warrants associated with mezzaribeatte typically detachable, which allows lendereceive repayment of
their principal on an agreed amortization schedtle retaining an equity interest in the borrowdezzanine debt also may
include a “put” feature, which permits the holdestll its equity interest back to the borrowea atrice determined through an
agreed formula.
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Below are summary attributes for our Debt SecwiBertfolio as of and for the year ended DecemheP314:
e represents approximately 67% of total investnpemtfolio;

e contains credit instruments issued by corporatedwers;

e primarily senior secured and junior secured |d@886 and 12% of debt securities, respectively);

e spread across 25 different industries and 84difft entities;

e average par balance per investment of approxign@ge6 million;

e all but 1 issuer (representing less than 1% ftafl iavestments at fair value) are current on theiot service obligations;
and

« weighted average interest rate of 7.3% on incproducing debt investments.

Our investments generally average between $1 mitha$20 million, although particular investmentaynbe larger or
smaller. The size of individual investments wilkyaccording to their priority in a company’s capistructure, with larger
investments in more secure positions in an eftorhaiximize capital preservation. The size of ouegiments and maturity
dates may vary as follows:

» senior secured term loans from $2 to $20 millicetturing in five to seven years;
« second lien term loans from $5 to $15 million uratg in six to eight years;

» senior unsecured loans $5 to $23 million matunmgix to eight years;

* mezzanine loans from $5 to $15 million maturingeven to ten years; and

»  equity investments from $1 to $5 million.

Asset Manager Affiliates.We expect to receive recurring cash distributiand seek to generate capital appreciation from
our investment in our Asset Manager Affiliates.&manager of the CLO Funds, our Asset Manageriaii receive
contractual and recurring management fees fronCth@ Funds for their management and advisory sesviceaddition, our
Asset Manager Affiliates may also earn income egldb net interest on assets accumulated for fil@uu@ issuances on which
they have provided a first loss guaranty in corinaowith loan warehouse arrangements for their Glu@ds.

The annual management fees that our Asset Mandtjeatas receive are generally based on a fixedt@etage of the par
value of assets under management and are recinrivegure for the term of the CLO Fund, so longhesAsset Manager
Affiliate manages the fund. As a result, the managst fees earned by our Asset Manager Affiliatesrat subject to market
value fluctuations in the underlying collateral €Timanagement fees that our Asset Manager Affilisgesive generally have
three contractual components: a senior managereenafsubordinated management fee and the paysdfiin incentive
management fee if certain conditions are met. @tisreall CLO Funds managed by the Asset Managéitidtes are paying
both their senior and subordinated managementfie@scurrent basis. During 2014, five CLO Fundsehashieved the
minimum investment return threshold and our Assahdjer Affiliates received incentive fees from 8@ O Funds, although
two of such CLO Funds have recently been calledddemption by their investors.

Subject to the conditions of the capital markets,axpect to continue to make investments in CLOdBunanaged by our
Asset Manager Affiliates, which we believe will pide us with a current cash investment return. \&leebe that these
investments will provide our Asset Manager Affigatwith greater opportunities to access new sowfceapital, which will
ultimately increase our Asset Manager Affiliatessats under management and resulting managementéeee. See “ltem
1A. Risk Factors” for a discussion of the risksatilg to our ability to access the capital marketd the impact of certain risk
retention rules that will require that we or oursABsManager Affiliates make and maintain certainimum investments in
CLO Funds managed by the Asset Manager Affiliates.
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The after-tax net free cash flow that our Asset &t Affiliates generate through the fees theyivec®r managing CLO
Funds and after paying their expenses pursuamt twerhead allocation agreement with the Compasgaated with their
operations, including compensation of their empésyanay be distributed to us. Distributions from Asset Manager
Affiliates’ tax basis earnings and profits are nefgal as “Dividends From Asset Manager Affiliates™our financial statements
when declared. From time to time our Asset Mandgdgliates may distribute cash in excess of taxiba&arnings and profits.
This excess is deemed a return of capital (“RO@Y s recorded in “unrealized gains (losses)” andtatement of operations.

Below are summary attributes for our Asset Mandg#éliates, as of and for the year ended Decemldgr2®14:
e represent approximately 15% of total investmamntfplio;

* have approximately $3.0 billion of assets undanagement;

e receive contractual and recurring asset managei®es based on par value of managed investments;

e may receive an incentive management fee from@ €und, provided that the CLO Fund achieves a minim
designated return on investment. In 2014, five uakds paid incentive fees to our Asset Manageiliafés; although
two of such CLO Funds have recently been calledgdemption by their investors;

« distributions paid by our Asset Manager Affiliaga® an additional source of income to pay our @raland service o
debt obligations; and

« for the year ended December 31, 2014, we recaiast distributions of $11.9 million, of which $5llion was
recognized as investment income from our Asset iganAffiliates.

CLO Fund Securities.Subject to the conditions of the capital markets expect to continue to make investments in the
CLO Funds managed by our Asset Manager Affiliafdsich we believe will provide us with a current kasvestment return.
We believe that these investments will provide Asset Manager Affiliates with greater opportunitiesaccess new sources of
capital which will ultimately increase our Asset Mager Affiliates’ assets under management andtieguhanagement fee
income.

Below are summary attributes for our CLO Fund Siéiest as of December 31, 2014, unless otherwiseifipd:
* CLO Fund Securities represent approximately 16%tal investment portfolio at December 31, 2014;

*  93% of CLO Fund Securities represent investmienssibordinated securities or equity securitiesasisby CLO Funds
and 7% of CLO Fund Securities are rated notes;

« all CLO Funds invest primarily in credit instrunte issued by corporate borrowers;
*  GAAP-basis investment income of $13.4 million dax basis cash distributions received of $19.2ionilduring the
year ended December 31, 20
Structure and Process

Structure

We are an internally managed BDC with 27 full-tismaployees (inclusive of employees of our Asset Man&ffiliates).
The following are our key functional teams that@ax®e our business strategy:

e Our BDC investment team consists of 7 professgowho originate, structure, and invest in senamwsed term loans,
mezzanine debt and selected equity securities phinia privately-held middle market companies aslivas CLO
Funds.

e Our Asset Manager Affiliates team consists of&@ssionals who structure, purchase and manag®iius of
primarily broadly syndicated corporate senior deb{CLOs.
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e The remainder of the employees include senioragament, operations, financial accounting, legahgiance and
human resources.

Process

KCAP will review potential investment opportunitiaad conduct due diligence that will typically indke a review of
historical and prospective financial informatioayficipation in a presentation held by the prospegtortfolio company’s
management and/or the transaction sponsor, a redfitve prospective portfolio company’s producservice, an analysis and
understanding of the drivers of the particular stdyiin which the prospective portfolio company @ies, and an assessment of
the debt service capabilities of the prospectivéfplio company under a variety of assumed foresasharios. Where
appropriate, this may be performed in conjunctidtin whe relevant industry analysts from the Assenkger Affiliates.

Due to our ability to source transactions througlitiple channels, we expect to continue to maingapipeline of
opportunities to allow comparative risk return gsa& and selectivity. By focusing on the driverg@fenue and cash flow, we
develop our own underwriting cases, and multiplesst and event specific case scenarios for eachargnanalyzed.

We focus on lending and investing opportunities in:

+ companies with EBITDA of $10 to $50 million;

« companies with financing needs of $25 to $150iomj

e companies purchased by well-regarded privatetggponsors;

e non-sponsored companies with successful manageandrsystems;

« high-yield bonds and broadly syndicated loanistger companies on a selective basis; and
e equity co-investment in companies where we sbetantial opportunity for capital appreciation.
We expect to continue to source investment oppiitsrfrom:

e private equity sponsors;

e regional investment banks for non-sponsored conegsa

e other middle market lenders with whom we canipigite in loans; and

e our Asset Manager Affiliates, with regard to higield bonds and syndicated loans.

In our experience, good credit judgment is based throrough understanding of both the qualitativé quantitative factors
that determine a company’s performance. Our arsabyajins with an understanding of the fundamenfatiise industry in
which a company operates, including the currenhendc environment and the outlook for the indusiie also focus on the
company’s relative position within the industry atedhistorical ability to weather economic cycl€ther key qualitative
factors include the experience and depth of theagament team and the financial sponsor, if any.

Only after we have a comprehensive understandinlyeofjualitative factors do we focus on quantimtivetrics. We believe
that with the context provided by the qualitativelysis, we can gain a better understanding ohapemy'’s financial
performance. We analyze a potential portfolio conypmsales growth and margins in the context ofd@sipetition as well as
its ability to manage its working capital requirarteeand its ability to generate consistent cash.f®ased upon this historical
analysis, we develop a set of projections whichieegnts a reasonable underwriting case of mody ldkecomes for the
company over the period of our investment. We hils& at potential downside cases to determine gpemy's ability to
service its debt in a stressed credit environment.

Elements of theualitative analysisve use in evaluating investment opportunities idelthe following:
e industry fundamentals;
e competitive position and market share;

* past ability to work through historical down-cgs|
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e quality of financial and technology infrastruaur

e sourcing risks and opportunities;

e labor and union strategy;

e technology risk;

« diversity of customer base and product lines;

e quality of financial sponsor (if applicable); and

e acquisition and integration history.

Elements of theguantitative analysisve use in evaluating investment opportunities idelthe following:
e income statement analysis of growth and margnds;

e cash flow analysis of capital expenditures aee ftash flow;

< financial ratio and market share standing amamgparable companies;
» financial projections: underwriting versus strease;

« event specific credit modeling;

e credit profile trend;

« future capital expenditure needs and asset $abs;p

« downside protection to limit losses in an everdefault;

» risk adjusted returns and relative value anajysisl

e enterprise and asset valuations.

The origination, structuring and credit approvalgesses are fully integrated. Our credit teamrisctly involved in all due
diligence and analysis prior to the formal cregip@val process by the Investment Committee.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee consists of the ChairnfaheoBoard of Directors, the Chief Executive Oéficthe Chief
Investment Officer, and an additional member ofBlo@rd of Directors. The Investment Committee seteeprovide
investment consistency and adherence to our ceesiment philosophy and policies.

Upon completion of the due diligence investigatithre, underwriting team of investment professiomalalysts will prepare
a credit underwriting memorandum that will summarize contemplated transaction, present the inwgthighlights, analyze
the risk in the transaction and mitigating factiorshose risks, analyze the prospective portfolig&torical financial statements,
financial projections, industry and management tesmd will then present this memorandum with itoramendations to the
Investment Committee for review and approval.

The approval of a majority of the Investment Conteeitwill be required for all investments of lesartt$15 million, and the
unanimous approval of the Investment Committee bglrequired for investments of $15 million or deza

Monitoring

Our management team has significant experiencetororg credit portfolios. Along with origination drecredit analysis,
portfolio management is one of the key elemenunfbusiness. Most of our investments will notibeid and, therefore, we
must prepare to act quickly if potential issueseso that we can work closely with managementlaagrivate equity sponsor,
if applicable, of the portfolio company to take argcessary remedial action. In addition, most ofsamior management team,
including the credit team at the Asset Managerliates, has substantial workout and restructurkmeaence.
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In order to assist us in detecting issues witheint Securities Portfolio companies as early asiples we perform a
financial analysis at least quarterly on each pticfcompany. This analysis typically includes:

« A summary of the portfolio company’s current tateedit exposure as well as the KCAP portion @ #xposure.

« A summary and update of the portfolio companinaficial condition and performance, including bot irmited to,
performance versus plan, deterioration/improvenmrentarket position, or industry fundamentals, mamgnt changes
or additions, and ongoing business strategy.

« Reaffirmation of, or proposal to change, the risting of the underlying investment.

« A summary of the portfolio company’s financiaMemant results vis a vis financial covenant leesigblished in the
credit agreement.

Watch list credits will be followed closely and clissed periodically with the Chief Investment Gificas appropriate.

DETERMINATION OF NET ASSET VALUE

We determine the net asset value per share ofaomon stock quarterly. The net asset value peeshaqual to the value
of our total assets minus liabilities and any pmefé stock outstanding divided by the total numifeshares of common stock
outstanding.

Our net asset value per share was $6.94 and $3.&flecember 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, ctgply. Since we
report our assets at fair value for each repomimgod, net asset value also represents the ansbstdckholders’ equity per
share for the reporting period. Our net asset vislgemprised mostly of investment assets less aethiother liabilities:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Fair Value () per Share® Fair Value () per Share®
Investments at fair value:

Investments in money market accouts $ 1,602,74 $ 0.04 $ 7,112,994 $ 0.21

Investments in debt securities 320,143,17 8.7C 266,830,42 8.0Z

Investments in CLO Fund Securities 77,514,90 2.11 79,452,22 2.3¢

Investments in equity securities 8,119,68 0.22 11,006,39 0.34

Investments in Asset Manager Affiliates 72,326,00 1.97 76,148,00 2.2¢
Cash 1,220,79: 0.0z 3,433,67! 0.1c
Restricted Cash 19,325,55 0.5: 4,078,93! 0.12
All other assets 10,193,95 0.2¢ 11,109,78 0.3:
Total Assets $510,446,79 $ 13.8¢ $459,172,38 $ 13.7¢
Convertible Notes $ 38,647,000 $ 1.05 $ 49,008,00 $ 1.47
7.375% Notes Due 2019 41,400,00 1.1z 41,400,00 1.24
Payable for open trades 18,293,72 0.5C 3,980,001 0.1z
Notes payabl— KCAP Senior Funding I, LL(

(net of discount) 143,837,59 3.91 102,184,37 3.07
Other liabilities 12,951,77 0.3t 12,230,32 0.37
Total Liabilities 255,130,09 6.94  208,802,69 6.27
NET ASSET VALUE $255,316,70 $ 6.94 $250,369,69 $ 7.51

(1) Our balance sheet at fair value and resultahagset value are calculated on a basis consigitnaccounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of AmgfiGRAAP”). Our per share presentation of such amsyother than net
asset value per share) is an internally derived®AAP performance measure calculated by dividirgahplicable balance



sheet amount by outstanding shares. We believéhbater share amounts for such balance sheet @sartselpful in
analyzing our balance sheet both quantitatively gumalitatively.

(2) Includes restricted cash held under employeefiteplans.
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Valuation

As a BDC, we invest primarily in illiquid securifigincluding loans to and warrants of private conigsand interests in
other illiquid securities, such as interests in GEhd Securities. These portfolio investments magubject to restrictions on
resale and will generally have no established migadiarket. As a result, our Board of Directors datees in good faith the fair
value of our portfolio investments pursuant to luaton policy developed in accordance with thealfitial Accounting
Standards Board Accounting Standards Codificate &air Value Measurements and Disclosures (“A3Q &air Value”),
and a valuation process approved by our Board fdbors and in accordance with the 1940 Act. Olwatéon policy is
intended to provide a consistent basis for deteénmgithe fair value of the portfolio. Our Board oir€ctors is ultimately and
solely responsible for making a good faith deteation of the fair value of portfolio investments amuarterly basis. The
Company uses an independent valuation firm to plethird party valuation consulting services to@wmpany and the Board
of Directors. For additional information concernivajuation, see “ltem 7: MD&A — Valuation of Portio Investments; and
Notes 2 and 4 to the financial statements.

Competition

Our primary competitors also provide financing togpective portfolio companies. These include concrakbanks,
specialty finance companies, hedge funds, strudtimeestment funds, other BDCs and investment habks competitors may
have a lower cost of funds, and many have accesstling sources that are not available to us. Mzfrthese entities have
greater managerial resources than we have, arfi@#EAct imposes certain regulatory restrictionsisras a BDC to which
many of our competitors are not subject. For addél information concerning the competitive risks face, see “ltem 1A.
Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business andsire — We operate in a highly competitive mafke investment
opportunities.”

We believe that we provide a unique combinatioaroéxperienced middle market loan origination a@l. ® management
platform at the Asset Manager Affiliates that irdds experienced lenders with broad industry exgeertie believe that this
combination of resources provides us with a thohoergdit process and multiple sources of investroppbrtunities that make
us attractive within our market.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we and our Asset Manadfdiafes had 27 employees, including an experienesam of 16
investment professionals.

REGULATION

The following discussion is a general summary afs®f the material prohibitions and restrictionsgming BDCs
generally. It does not purport to be a completedeson of all the laws and regulations affectBBCs.

A BDC is a unique kind of investment company thatnarily focuses on investing in or lending to fa@ie or relatively
small publicly traded companies and making managassistance available to them. A BDC providesldtolders with the
ability to retain the liquidity of a publicly tradestock, while sharing in the possible benefittegsting in privately-owned
companies. The 1940 Act contains prohibitions asdrictions relating to transactions between BD@$taeir directors and
officers and principal underwriters and certainesttelated persons and requires that a majoritiieflirectors be persons other
than “interested persons,” as that term is defingtie 1940 Act. We have implemented certain pracesito ensure that we do
not engage in any prohibited transactions with pengons affiliated with us.

In addition, the 1940 Act provides that we may ctwinge the nature of our business so as to cease ¢ to withdraw our
election as, a BDC unless approved by a majorityunfoutstanding voting securities. A majority bétoutstanding voting
securities of a company is defined under the 19¢t0aA the lesser of (i) 67% or more of such comsastyares present at a
meeting or represented by proxy if more than 50%hefoutstanding shares of such company are preseapresented by
proxy or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding sisasf such company.
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Qualifying Assets
Under the 1940 Act, a BDC may not acquire any astbetr than assets of the type listed in Sectida)5&f the 1940 Act, or

“Qualifying Assets,” unless, at the time the acdign is made, Qualifying Assets represent at 1886 of the company’s total
assets. The principal categories of Qualifying Asselevant to our business are the following:

«  Securities of an “eligible portfolio company” mirased in transactions not involving any publi@dffg. An “eligible
portfolio company” is defined in the 1940 Act ay assuer which:

(a) is organized under the laws of, and has itscjpal place of business in, the United States;

(b) is not an investment company (other than aldmainess investment company wholly-owned by tBxCBor a
company that would be an investment company butdédiain exclusions under the 1940 Act; and

(c) satisfies any of the following:

(i) does not have any class of securities listed aatiamal securities exchange (or, if it has a ctidssecurities liste
on a national securities exchange, has an aggregateet value of outstanding voting and non-votiogimon
equity of less than $250 million);

(ii) is controlled by a BDC or a group of companiesluding a BDC and the BDC has an affiliated paraho is a
director of the eligible portfolio company;

(i) is a small and solvent company having total agsfatet more than $4 million and capital and surptiaot less
than $2 million; or

(iv)does not have outstanding any class of securitissraspect to which a broker or dealer may exteadgin
credit.

e Securities of any eligible portfolio company tha control;

e Securities purchased in a private transactiomfaoU.S. issuer that is not an investment compandyisin bankruptcy
and subject to reorganization;

e Securities received in exchange for or distriduda or with respect to securities described abovpursuant to the
conversion of warrants or rights relating to suetusities; and

e Cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government seaudtikigh-quality debt securities maturing in oearyor less from the
time of investment.

Significant Managerial Assistance

A BDC must be organized and have its principal @latbusiness in the United States and must beatgzkfor the purpose
of making investments in the types of securitiescdbed above. In addition, BDCs must generallgiofd make available to
such issuer of the securities (other than smallsaibnt companies described above) significantagenal assistance; except
that, where we purchase such securities in coripmetith one or more other persons acting togethvee, of the other persons
is the group may make available such manageriatasse. Making available significant manageriaistance means, among
other things, any arrangement whereby the BDC ujinats directors, officers or employees, offerpttovide, and, if accepted,
does so provide, guidance and counsel concernexgiinagement, operations or business objectivepdiuies of a portfolio
company through monitoring of portfolio company @im®ns, selective participation in board and mamagnt meetings,
consulting with and advising a portfolio compangfficers or other organizational or financial guida.

Temporary Investments

Pending investment in other types of “qualifyingets,” as described above, our investments maystaisash, cash
equivalents, U.S. government securities or higHityudebt securities maturing in one year or lessif the time of investment,
which we refer to, collectively, as temporary inwesnts, so that at least 70% of our assets ardifgjng assets.” Typically,
we invest in U.S. treasury bills or in repurchageeaments, provided that such agreements aredulligteralized by cash or
securities issued by the
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U.S. government or its agencies. A repurchase aweeinvolves the purchase by an investor, sualsasf a specified security
and the simultaneous agreement by the seller torebpse it at an agreed upon future date and tewwhich is greater than
the purchase price by an amount that reflects egedgupon interest rate. There is no percentagecteam on the proportion of
our assets that may be invested in such repuramsements. However, if more than 25% of our tasakts constitute
repurchase agreements that are treated, undecalplplitax rules, as being issued by a single copentiy, we would not meet
the diversification tests imposed on us by the Godgualify for tax treatment as a RIC for U.S.del income tax purposes.
Thus, we do not intend to enter into repurchaseergents treated as issued, under applicable tex, foy a single counterparty
in excess of this limit. We monitor the creditwontbss of the counterparties with which we entey nefpurchase agreement
transactions.

Indebtedness; Coverage Ratio

W e are permitted, under specified conditions, to issuétiple classes of indebtedness and one clas®ok senior to our
common stock if our asset coverage, as definelderi940 Act, is at least equal to 200% immediadéiigr each such issuance.
In addition, with respect to certain types of semsiecurities, we must make provisions to prohibit dividend distribution to
our stockholders or the repurchase of certain ofeuaurities, unless we meet the applicable assefrage ratios at the time of
the dividend distribution or repurchase. We mayp &lsrrow amounts up to 5% of the value of our tatsets for temporary
purposes. For a discussion of the risks associgthdhe resulting leverage, see “ltem 1A. RisktBex — Risks Related to Our
Business and Structure — We borrow money, whichnifigég the potential for gain or loss on amountested and may
increase the risk of investing in us.” As of Dece&mB1, 2014 our asset coverage ratio was 211% eath@minimum required
asset coverage level of 200%.

Common Stock

We are not generally able to issue and sell oumesomstock at a price below net asset value peeskiége may, however,
sell our common stock, warrants, options or rightacquire our common stock, at a price below tireent net asset value of
the common stock if our Board of Directors detemsithat such sale is in our best interests andfhair stockholders, and
our stockholders approve such sale. In any suah das price at which our common stock is to beddsand sold may not be
less than a price which, in the determination afBoard of Directors, closely approximates the magialue of such common
stock (less any distributing commission or discpufstproposal approved by our stockholders at ad2Bfiecial Meeting of
Stockholders authorizes us to sell shares of ommoon stock below the then current net asset vadusipare of our common
stock in one or more offerings for the period egdim the earlier of the one year anniversary ofififte of the Company’s 2014
Special Meeting of Stockholders and the date ofXbmpany’s 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,alilis expected to be
held in June 2015. For the same period, the Compadapted a policy that it will not seek approvainfrour Board of Directors
to sell or otherwise issue more than 15% of the @amy’'s then outstanding shares of common stockpata below its then
current net asset value. We would need similaréusypproval from our stockholders to issue shagé®abthe then current net
asset value per share any time after the expirafidine current approval. We may also make rigffesrimgs to our stockholders
at prices per share less than the net asset vatughpre, subject to applicable requirements ol 848 Act. See “ltem 1A. Risk
Factors — Risks Relating to Our Business and Siract- Regulations governing our operation as a Biffiect our ability to,
and the way in which we, raise additional capital.”

Code of Ethics

We adopted and maintain a code of ethics pursoaRute 17j-1 under the 1940 Act that establishesgutures for personal
investments and restricts certain personal seesritansactions. Personnel subject to the codemaagt in securities for their
personal investment accounts, including securitiesmay be purchased or held by us, so long dsisuestments are made in
accordance with the code’s requirements. A cophefcode of ethics is available on the Corporates®wance section of the
Company’s website dittp://www.kcapfinancial.comOur code of ethics may also be reviewed and dogig¢he Public
Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.Eshikigton, D.C. 20549. You may obtain informationtio@ operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-8B@-$330. Copies of the code of ethics may be obthiafter paying a
duplicating fee, by electronic request at the follgy
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e-mail addresgublicinfo@sec.goyor by writing the SEC’s Public Reference Sectfashington, D.C. 20549-0102. In
addition, our code of ethics is available on th&€SEvebsite ahttp://www.sec.gov

Privacy Principles

We are committed to maintaining the privacy of stackholders and safeguarding their non-publicgreaakinformation.
The following information is provided to help yoanderstand what personal information we collect, protect that
information and why, in certain cases, we may sirdoemation with select other parties.

Generally, we do not receive any non-public perkiriarmation relating to our stockholders, althbugpme non-public
personal information of our stockholders may becaweglable to us. We do not disclose any non-pyidicsonal information
about our stockholders or former stockholders tag, except as is necessary to service stockhateunts, such as to a
transfer agent, or as otherwise permitted by law.

We restrict access to non-public personal inforamaéibout our stockholders to our employees wiggéimate business
need for the information. We maintain safeguardsgiesd to protect the non-public personal inforovatf our stockholders.

Proxy Voting Policy and Procedures

Although the securities we hold are not typicalbting securities, some of our investments coulélents to voting rights.
If this were to occur we would vote our portfoliecsirities in the best interest of our stockholdard we would review on a
case-by-case basis each proposal submitted telhsider vote to determine its impact on the pdidfeecurities held by us.
Although we would generally vote against proposiadd we believe may have a negative impact on ottfgiio securities, we
may vote for such a proposal if we were to beligheze exists a compelling long-term reason to do so

Our voting decisions would be made by our Investn@mmittee. To ensure that our vote would notptegluct of a
conflict of interest, we would require that (1) ang involved in the decision making process digctosour Chief Compliance
Officer any potential conflict that he or she isamevof and any contact that he or she has hadanittinterested party regarding
a vote; and (2) employees involved in the decisiaking process or vote administration are prohibitem revealing how we
intend to vote on a proposal to reduce any attednipfeuence from interested parties.

Other
We are periodically examined by the SEC for commueawith the 1940 Act and the Securities ExchangeofA1934.

We are required to provide and maintain a boncegddiy a reputable fidelity insurance company tdqarous against
larceny and embezzlement. Furthermore, as a BD@reverohibited from indemnifying any director dficer against any
liability to our stockholders arising from willfuhisfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or resklissegard of the duties
involved in the conduct of such person’s office.

We are required to adopt and implement writtenqiesi and procedures reasonably designed to preiatation of the
federal securities laws and to review these pdalieied procedures annually for their adequacy ameéffectiveness of their
implementation. We have a designated CCO who jmoresble for administering these policies and pdoces.

TAXATION AS A REGULATED INVESTMENT COMPANY

We have elected to be treated for U.S. federalnmetax purposes as a Regulated Investment ComfRag"f under
subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 188@&mended (the “Code”), and intend to operateni@ner to maintain our
RIC tax treatment. As a RIC, we generally will haive to pay corporate-level U.S. federal incomedan any ordinary
income or capital gains that we timely distribudeur stockholders as dividends. To qualify as @,Rte must, among other
things, meet certain source-of-income and assetsification requirements (as described belowaddition, we must
distribute to our stockholders, for each taxablaryat least 90% of our “investment company taxaieme,” which is
generally our net ordinary taxable income plusakeess of our realized net short-term capital gaues our realized net long-
term capital losses (the “Annual Distribution Requient”).
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Taxation as a RIC

For any taxable year in which we qualify as a Rihd aatisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement, gemerally will not be
subject to U.S. federal income tax on the portibow investment company taxable income and netalagain, defined as net
long-term capital gains in excess of net short-teapital losses, we distribute to stockholders.Mlkebe subject to U.S.
federal income tax at the regular corporate rateany net ordinary income or net capital gain nstrithuted (or deemed
distributed) to our stockholders.

We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible U.S. fatlekcise tax on our undistributed income unlesglisgibute in a
timely manner an amount at least equal to the suf@)®8% of our net ordinary income for each cdbaryear, (b) 98.2% of
our capital gain net income for the one-year peeinding October 31 in that calendar year and (g)ircome or gains realized,
but not distributed, in the preceding year and dictvwe paid no U.S. federal income tax (the “E&cisix Avoidance
Requirement”). For this purpose, however, any néinary income or capital gain net income retaibgdis that is subject to
corporate-level U.S. federal income tax for theytaar ending in that calendar year will be congddo have been distributed
by year end (or earlier if estimated taxes are)p&ite currently intend to make sufficient distrilous each taxable year to
satisfy the Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement.

To qualify as a RIC for U.S. federal income taxpmses, we must, among other things:
e qualify to be regulated as a business developemnpany under the 1940 Act at all times duringheéagable year;

< derive in each taxable year at least 90% of sasgincome from dividends, interest, payments vatpect to certain
securities loans, gains from the sale of stocktieerosecurities, or other income derived with respe our business of
investing in such stock or securities, and netimealerived from interests in “qualified publiclated
partnerships” (which generally are partnerships éin@ traded on an established securities markeadable on a
secondary market, other than partnerships thatel®0% of their income from interest, dividends aftter permitted
RIC income) (the “90% Income Test"); and

- diversify our holdings so that at the end of equhbrter of the taxable year:

° atleast 50% of the value of our assets consistash, cash equivalents, U.S. government seesiriecurities of
other RICs, and other securities if such other sges of any one issuer do not represent more Héarof the value
of our assets or more than 10% of the outstandirtigy securities of the issuer; and

° no more than 25% of the value of our assetsvissited in the securities, other than U.S. govertrsecurities or
securities of other RICs, of one issuer or of twonore issuers that are controlled, as determimeléiuapplicable te
rules, by us and that are engaged in the samendasir related trades or businesses or in thergexs of one or
more qualified publicly traded partnerships (theévésification Tests”).

If we do not satisfy the requirements of the DiVfaration Tests as of the end of any quarter, wiénat lose our status as
RIC provided that (i) we satisfied the requirementa prior quarter and (ii) our failure to satishe requirements in the current
quarter is not due in whole or in part to an adtjois of any security or other property.

We may invest in partnerships, including qualifipdlicly traded partnerships, which may resultum being subject to
state, local or foreign income, franchise or witldmag liabilities.

Any underwriting fees paid by us are not deductildle may be required to recognize taxable incon@raumstances in
which we do not receive cash. For example, if wie debt obligations that are treated under appléctdx rules as having
original issue discount (such as debt instrumeirits payment-in-kind (“PIK”) interest or, in certagases, with increasing
interest rates or issued with warrants), we mugdude in income each year a portion of the origissilie discount that accrues
over the life of the obligation, regardless of wiegtcash representing such income is received Iy the same taxable year.
Because any original issue discount accrued wilhblided in our investment company taxable incéonghe year of accrual,
we may be required to make a distribution to oaclgholders in order to satisfy the Annual

14




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Distribution Requirement, even though we will nat/k received any corresponding cash amount. Ifree@at able to obtain
sufficient cash from other sources to satisfy timmdal Distribution Requirement, we may fail to dfyahs a RIC and become
subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income saxe all of our taxable income without the benefithe dividends-paid
deduction.

Although we do not presently expect to do so, veeaarthorized to borrow funds and to sell assetsder (i) to satisfy the
Annual Distribution Requirement and to otherwiseneiate our liability for U.S. federal income anxkese taxes and (ii) to
satisfy the Diversification Tests. However, under 1940 Act, we are not permitted to borrow addaidunds or to make
distributions to our stockholders while our debligdtions and other senior securities are outstandnless a certain “asset
coverage” test is met. See “Regulation — Indebtesin€overage Ratio.” Moreover, our ability to dispaf assets to meet the
Annual Distribution Requirement, the Excise Tax Alamce Requirement or the Diversification Tests foayimited by (a) the
illiquid nature of our portfolio and/or (b) othequirements relating to our qualification as a Rf@ve dispose of assets in
order to meet the Annual Distribution Requiremém, Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement, or the Difieegion Tests, we
may make such dispositions at times that, frormaastment standpoint, are not advantageous.

Certain of our investment practices may be sulifespecial and complex U.S. federal income tax igions that may,
among other things, (a) treat dividends that wakterwise constitute qualified dividend income as-qualified dividend
income, (b) treat dividends that would otherwiseelgible for the corporate dividends received dgitun as ineligible for such
treatment, (c) disallow, suspend or otherwise litmé allowance of certain losses or deductionsgg¢dyert lower-taxed long-
term capital gain into higher-taxed short-term ta@main or ordinary income, (e) convert an ordynlass or a deduction into a
capital loss (the deductibility of which is mormlted), (f) cause us to recognize income or gathait a corresponding receipt
of cash, (g) adversely affect the time as to whparahase or sale of stock or securities is degmedcur, (h) adversely alter
the characterization of certain complex finanaiahsactions and (i) produce income that will notbelifying income for
purposes of the 90% Income Test. We intend to ropoifir transactions and may make certain tax elestio mitigate the
effect of these provisions and prevent our disdjaation as a RIC.

Gain or loss realized by us from warrants acquingds as well as any loss attributable to the lapseich warrants
generally will be treated as capital gain or I&sch capital gain or loss generally will be long¥teor short-term, depending on
how long we held a particular warrant.

Some of the income and fees that we may recogrilzaeat satisfy the 90% Income Test. In order ta@re that such
income and fees do not disqualify us as a RIC fiailare to satisfy the 90% Income Test, we maydtradsets that generate
such income and provide services that generatefseshindirectly through one or more entities &dads corporations for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. Such corporationsbeillequired to pay corporate-level U.S. federabine taxes on their
earnings, which ultimately will reduce our retumm guch income and fees.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

We have adopted a dividend reinvestment plan tiatiges for reinvestment of our distributions ormalé of our
stockholders, unless a stockholder elects to reamgh as provided below. As a result, if our BadrDirectors authorizes, and
we declare, a cash distribution, then our stocldrsldvho have not “opted out” of our dividend reisiveent plan will have their
cash distributions automatically reinvested in &ddal shares of our common stock, rather thaniveggthe cash.

No action is required on the part of a registetedkolder to have such shareholder’'s cash digtabueinvested in shares
of our common stock. A registered stockholder magtdo receive an entire distribution in cash byifging American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, the plan administratat aor transfer agent and registrar, in writinglsat such notice is received
by the plan administrator no later than the reaatd for distributions to stockholders. The plamadstrator will set up an
account for shares acquired through the plan folh stockholder who has not elected to receiveiligtons in cash and hold
such shares in non-certificated form. Upon reqbgst stockholder participating in the plan, recdiwewriting not less than ten
days prior to the record date, the plan administraill, instead of crediting shares to the papsit's
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account, issue a certificate registered in thei@pant's name for the number of whole shares afammmon stock and a check
for any fractional share.

Those stockholders whose shares are held by arbookegher financial intermediary may receive disitions in cash by
notifying their broker or other financial intermady of their election.

We intend to use primarily newly issued sharesrplément the plan, whether our shares are tradiagpeemium or at a
discount to net asset value. However, we reseev@dght to purchase shares in the open marketninextion with our
implementation of the plan. The number of shardsetssued to a stockholder is determined by digdhe total dollar amount
of the dividend payable to such stockholder byntiaeket price per share of our common stock at ligecof regular trading on
The NASDAQ Global Select Market on the dividend ayt date. Market price per share on that datebsithe closing price
for such shares on The NASDAQ Global Select Madkeif no sale is reported for such day, at theage of their reported bid
and asked prices. Shares purchased in open meakstittions by the plan administrator of the din@lesinvestment plan will
be allocated to a stockholder based upon the azgraighase price, excluding any brokerage changether charges, of all
shares of common stock purchased with respecetdittribution.

There are no brokerage charges or other chargaedkholders who participate in the plan. The @dministrator’s fees
under the plan are paid by us. If a participanttsley written notice to the plan administratohtve the plan administrator sell
part or all of the shares held by the plan admiatist in the participant’s account and remit thegaeds to the participant, the
plan administrator is authorized to deduct a $1&8&asaction fee plus a $0.10 per share brokeragenission from the
proceeds.

If your distributions are reinvested, you will beguired to pay tax on the distributions in the sama@ner as if the
distributions were received in cash. The taxatibdistributions will not be affected by the formwhich you receive them.

Participants may terminate their accounts undepléwe by notifying the plan administrator via itebsite at
www.amstock.comby filling out the transaction request form laahtat bottom of their statement and sending ihéoptian
administrator at the address set forth below ocddlng the plan administrator at 1-866-668-8564.

The plan may be terminated by us upon notice itingrimailed to each participant at least 30 dayar ppo any record date
for the payment of any dividend by us. All corresgence concerning the plan should be directedhth additional information
about the plan may be obtained from, the plan adtnétor by mail at American Stock Transfer & Tr@impany, Attn.
Dividend Reinvestment Department, P.O. Box 922,|\8tket Station, New York, NY 10269-0560 or byef#ione at 1-866-
668-8564.
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Item 1A.Risk Factors

Investing in our securities involves a high degoéesk. In addition to the other information coirtad in this annual report
on Form 10-K, the following information should keefully considered before making an investmertuinsecurities. The risks
set out below are not the only risks we face. Aaltit risks and uncertainties not presently knowmi$ or not presently deemed
material by us might also impair our operations gratformance. If any of the following events oceur, business, financial
condition and results of operations could be matériand adversely affected. In such case, ourasset value and the trading
price of our securities could decline, and you rusg part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Economic Conditions

Economic recessions or downturns may have a matesidverse effect on our business, financial conditiand results of
operations, and could impair the ability of our ptfolio companies to repay loans.

Economic recessions or downturns may result irobopged period of market illiquidity which couldvea material
adverse effect on our business, financial conditiod results of operations. Unfavorable economiaitmns also could
increase our funding costs, limit our access tactygtal markets or result in a decision by lendrtsto extend credit to us.
These events could limit our investment originagidimit our ability to grow and negatively impamir operating results.

To the extent that recessionary conditions retiln@ financial results of small and mid-sized conmesnlike those in which
we invest, will likely experience deterioration, isth could ultimately lead to difficulty in meetirdgbt service requirements and
an increase in defaults. Additionally, the end retsior certain of our portfolio companies’ produand services would likely
experience negative economic trends. The perforesatcertain of our portfolio companies have begl, may continue to
be, negatively impacted by these economic or atbreditions, which may ultimately result in our rgteof a reduced level of
interest income from our portfolio companies andidsses or charge offs related to our investmentd, in turn, may adversely
affect distributable income. Further, adverse eotina@onditions may decrease the value of collatezaliring some of our
loans and the value of our equity investments. fesalt, we may need to modify the payment termsuofinvestments,
including changes in payment-in-kind interest psadis and/or cash interest rates. These factorgesant in our receipt of a
reduced level of interest income from our portfa@mpanies and/or losses or charge offs relateditanvestments, and, in
turn, may adversely affect distributable income hade a material adverse effect on our resultpefations.

The capital markets may experience periods of digian and instability. Such market conditions mayaterially and
adversely affect debt and equity capital marketgtie United States, which may have a negative intgacour business and
operations.

The U.S. capital markets experienced extreme Vityadind disruption over the past several yeaisileg to recessionary
conditions and depressed levels of consumer andnesaial spending. Disruptions in the capital maskatreased the spread
between the yields realized on risk-free and higis&rsecurities, resulting in illiquidity in parts the capital markets. While
recent indicators suggest improvement in the chpigakets, we cannot provide any assurance thaetbenditions will not
worsen. If these conditions continue or worsen pittdonged period of market illiquidity may have adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of ofi@na. Unfavorable economic conditions also coualttéase our funding costs,
limit our access to the capital markets or result decision by lenders not to extend credit toTgse events could limit our
investment originations, limit our ability to graand negatively impact our operating results.

In addition, significant changes or volatility inet capital markets may also have a negative effethe valuations of our
investments. While most of our investments areputalicly traded, applicable accounting standardgiire us to assume as part
of our valuation process that our investments ale is a principal market to market participantege if we plan on holding an
investment through its maturity). Significant chaagn the capital markets may also affect the pacair investment activity
and the potential for liquidity events involvingraavestments. Thus, the illiquidity of our invesints may make it difficult for
us to sell such investments to access capitagjifired, and as a result, we could realize signifigdess than
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the value at which we have recorded our investmiémate were required to sell them for liquidity pases. An inability to raise
or access capital could have a material adversetedh our business, financial condition or resoftsperations.

Ongoing U.S. debt ceiling and budget deficit consdrave increased the possibility of additionadlitreating downgrades
and economic slowdowns, or a recession in the AltBough U.S. lawmakers passed legislation to rtisefederal debt ceiling
on multiple occasions, ratings agencies have lodverghreatened to lower the long-term sovereigulicrating on the United
States. The impact of this or any further downgsadethe U.S. government’s sovereign credit ratings perceived
creditworthiness could adversely affect the U.%l global financial markets and economic conditiokissent further
guantitative easing by the Federal Reserve, thegel@pments could cause interest rates and borgogdgsts to rise, which may
negatively impact our ability to access the debtk®is on favorable terms. In addition, disagreenoeet the federal budget
has caused the U.S. federal government to shut dmwperiods of time. Continued adverse politicadl @conomic conditions
could have a material adverse effect on our busjiegmncial condition and results of operations.

Uncertainty about the financial stability of the Uted States and abroad could have a significant exse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of opei@ts.

Ongoing U.S. debt ceiling and budget deficit consenise the possibility of additional credit-rgtidowngrades and
economic slowdowns, or a recession in the U.S.QAlti U.S. lawmakers passed legislation to raiséettheral debt ceiling on
multiple occasions, ratings agencies have lowerdlreatened to lower the long-term sovereign ¢neding on the United
States. The impact of this or any further downgsadethe U.S. government’s sovereign credit ratings perceived
creditworthiness could adversely affect the U.%l global financial markets and economic conditigkissent further
guantitative easing by the Federal Reserve, thegel@pments could cause interest rates and borgogdgsts to rise, which may
negatively impact our ability to access the debtk®i® on favorable terms. In addition, disagreenoeet the federal budget
has caused the U.S. federal government to shut dmwperiods of time.

The current worldwide financial market situatios,veell as various social and political tensionthie United States and
around the world, may continue to contribute taéased market volatility, may have long-term efemt the United States and
worldwide financial markets, and may cause furé@nomic uncertainties or deterioration in the EhiStates and worldwide.
Since 2010, several European Union (“EU”) countriesluding Greece, Ireland, Italy, Spain, and Bgal, have faced budget
issues, some of which may have negative long-téfects for the economies of those countries andrdit) countries. Growth
in the EU’s economy has continued to stagnatepaserns over deflation and the effects of Russdattsons on growth were
added to longstanding issues with burdensome dabsland high unemployment. Recently, the Euro@esntral Bank began
employing more aggressive stimulus measures, Wéhritiation of full-scale quantitative easing tha/olves purchase of
Eurozone sovereign debt. In addition to EU fisadlqy, the fiscal policy of foreign nations, such Russia and China, may
have a severe impact on the worldwide and UnitateStfinancial markets. We do not know how longfih@ncial markets will
continue to be affected by these events and caradict the effects of these or similar eventhimfuture on the United States
economy and securities markets or on our investsn&tié monitor developments and seek to managewvestiments in a
manner consistent with achieving our investmengctje, but there can be no assurance that wee/#luccessful in doing so.

Risks Related to Our Business and Structure

We have identified a material weakness in our imal control over financial reporting. Our failure ¢ establish and maintain
effective internal control over financial reportingould result in material misstatements in our finaial statements, our
failure to meet our reporting obligations and causevestors to lose confidence in our reported fir@al information, which
in turn could cause the trading price of our sectigs to decline.

We have identified a material weakness in our ivdkecontrol over financial reporting relating tetreview and oversight of
tax-related matters and, as a result of such weakieeir management concluded that our disclosureate and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting were edfiective as of
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December 31, 2014. This contributed to a delapénfiling of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for tfiscal year ended
December 31, 2014 and the restatement of all opoawiously issued quarterly and annual finandialesnents since 2010. For
further information regarding this matter, pleasfer to Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Unless and until remediated, this material weakoestd result in additional material misstatemeatsur interim or annual
consolidated financial statements and disclosumatsnhay not be prevented or detected on a timedisbl addition, we may
experience delay or be unable to meet our repodiligations or to comply with SEC rules and retjolas, which could result
in investigations and sanctions by regulatory atitles. Management's ongoing assessment of disaosontrols and
procedures as well as internal control over finanaporting may in the future identify additiore¢aknesses and conditions
that need to be addressed. Any failure to imprawed@sclosure controls and procedures or interaatrol over financial
reporting to address identified weaknesses inuhed, if they were to occur, could prevent us frmintaining accurate
accounting records and discovering material acéogrrrors. Any of these results could adverselgcifour business and the
value of our common stock.

We are dependent upon our senior management for future success, and if we are unable to hire aretain qualified
personnel or if we lose any member of our seniormagement team, our ability to achieve our investrhebjectives could be
significantly harmed.

We depend on the members of our senior managemsavelhas other key personnel for the identificatifinal selection,
structuring, closing and monitoring of our investitee These employees have critical industry expeaend relationships that
we rely on to implement our business plan. Ourriiguccess depends on the continued service @emior management team.
The departure of any of the members of our senammagement or a significant number of our seniosgrarel could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to achieueiavestment objective. As a result, we may noable to operate our
business as we expect, and our ability to compmidoe harmed, which could cause our operatingjtseto suffer.

Additionally, the management agreements governimgesof the CLO funds managed by our Asset Manadfdiates have
“key person” provisions that provide certain CL@astors with rights upon the departure of a “kesspr”, as defined in each
agreement. As a result, the departure of a “kegq@ercould trigger a material change in the Assahiber Affiliate’s role in
managing the CLO Funds, and therefore KCAP's fir@raenefits from its investments in the Asset MgaraAffiliates.

We operate in a highly competitive market for inte®nt opportunities.

A large number of entities compete with us to mifleetypes of investments that we plan to make asgective portfolio
companies. We compete with other BDCs, as wellmsnaber of investment funds, investment banks d@hersources of
financing, including traditional financial servicesmpanies, such as commercial banks and finarmopaies. Many of our
competitors are substantially larger and have demably greater financial, technical, marketing atfter resources than we do.
For example, some competitors may have a lowerafdsinds and access to funding sources that d@ravailable to us. This
may enable some of our competitors to make commldozns with interest rates that are comparabte tower than the rates
we typically offer. We may lose prospective poitidhvestments if we do not match our competit@riting, terms and
structure. If we do match our competitors’ pricitgrms or structure, we may experience decreadddtaeest income. In
addition, some of our competitors may have highsrtolerances or different risk assessments, wbiehd allow them to
consider a wider variety of investments, estabiigire relationships and build their market sharesthérmore, many of our
potential competitors have greater experience ¢ipgrander, or are not subject to, the regulatestrictions that the 1940 Act
imposes on us as a BDC. As a result of this conipetithere can be no assurance that we will be tbidentify and take
advantage of attractive investment opportunitiethat we will be able to fully invest our availaldapital. If we are not able to
compete effectively, our business and financialdition and results of operations will be adversafected.
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If we are unable to source investments effectivelyg may be unable to achieve our investment objestiand provide returns
to stockholders.

Our ability to achieve our investment objective elegls on our senior management team’s ability totifye evaluate and
invest in suitable companies that meet our investrogteria. Accomplishing this result on a codkeefive basis is largely a
function of our marketing capabilities, our managetof the investment process, our ability to pdevefficient services and
our access to financing sources on acceptable ténmasldition to monitoring the performance of euisting investments,
members of our management team and our investmeigisgionals may also be called upon to provideaganal assistance to
our portfolio companies. These demands on thek timay distract them or slow the rate of investm&atgrow, we need to
continue to hire, train, supervise and manage mapl@/ees and to implement computer and other systapable of
effectively accommodating our growth. However, vaamot provide assurance that any such employeksonmiribute to the
success of our business or that we will implemanhsystems effectively. Failure to source invesitseffectively could have
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooiadition and results of operations.

Our business model depends to a significant extepbn strong referral relationships, and our inabiyi to maintain or
develop these relationships, as well as the failofeéhese relationships to generate investment appaities, could adversely
affect our business.

We expect that members of our senior managememt wéth maintain their relationships with intermedes, financial
institutions, investment bankers, commercial basikémancial advisors, attorneys, accountants, witansts and other
individuals within their networks, and we will rely a significant extent upon these relationshipgrovide us with potential
investment opportunities. If our senior managenteain fails to maintain its existing relationshipsievelop new relationships
with sources of investment opportunities, we wit be able to grow our investment portfolio. In iidad, individuals with
whom members of our senior management team haagoredhips are not obligated to provide us withegtment
opportunities, and, therefore, there is no asserémat such relationships will generate investnoppiortunities for us.

We may have difficulty paying distributions requileo maintain our RIC status if we recognize incorhefore or without
receiving cash equal to such income.

In accordance with the Code, we include in incoerain amounts that we have not yet received ih,casch as contracted
non-cash PIK interest, which represents contradhi@test added to the loan balance and due ariti®f the loan term. The
increases in loan balances as a result of conttaie-cash PIK arrangements are included in incimmthe period in which
such non-cash PIK interest was received, whiclitendn advance of receiving cash payment, andgeaparately identified on
our statements of cash flows. We also may be redua include in income certain other amounts wetvill not receive in
cash. Any warrants that we receive in connectiah wur debt investments generally are valued asgbdine negotiation
process with the particular portfolio company. A®sult, a portion of the aggregate purchase foicthe debt investments and
warrants is allocated to the warrants that we wecéihis generally results in the associated deldstment having “original
issue discount” for tax purposes, which we musbgeze as ordinary income as it accrues. This as&e the amounts we are
required to distribute to maintain our qualificatifor tax treatment as a RIC. Because such origgsak discount income might
exceed the amount of cash received in a givenwihrespect to such investment, we might needdtaio cash from other
sources to satisfy such distribution requireme@tber features of the debt instruments that we hadgt also cause such
instruments to generate original issue discount.

Since, in certain cases, we may recognize incorfegder without receiving cash representing sudoine, we may have
difficulty meeting the annual distribution requirent necessary to maintain RIC tax treatment urid=Code. Accordingly, we
may have to sell some of our investments at tinnelgoa at prices we would not consider advantageaise additional debt or
equity capital or forgo new investment opportusitier this purpose. If we are not able to obtaishciiom other sources, we
may fail to qualify for RIC tax treatment and tHuscome subject to corporate-level income tax. Editenal discussion
regarding the tax implications of a RIC, see “Bes— Regulation — Taxation as a Regulated Invedt@empany.”
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Our Asset Manager Affiliates may incur losses asesult of “first loss” agreements that they may emtinto from time-to-
time in connection with warehousing credit arrangemts which may be put in place prior to raising 4O Fund and
pursuant to which they would typically agree to metburse credit providers for a portion of losses &ifiy) on warehouse
investments.

Our Asset Manager Affiliates have in the past esdénto, are currently entered into, and we andAmset Manager
Affiliates may in the future enter into “first Idsagreements in connection with warehouse credédiestablished to fund the
initial accumulation of loan investments for fut@&O Funds that our Asset Manager Affiliates wihmage. Under such
agreements, our Asset Manager Affiliates generabike a junior investment in a warehouse facilitiijcl serves as a loss
buffer for the senior capital provider. Such juniorestment may be subject to losses (either inlevboin part) that stem from
factors including (i) losses as a result of indixatlloan or other investments being ineligible garchase by the CLO Fund
(typically due to a payment default on such loaotber investments) when such fund formation is gieted or (i) if the CLO
Fund has not been completed before the expirafitimeonvarehouse credit line, the loss (if any, aatiof any accumulated
interest income) on the resale of such loans fuhgettie warehouse credit line, or (iii) realizeddes from trading activity
within the warehouse facility. As a result, our ésManager Affiliates may incur losses if loans aetht obligations, if
applicable, that had been purchased in the warehfaggity become ineligible for inclusion in the.O Fund or if a planned
CLO Fund does not close.

Any unrealized losses we experience on our loantfmio may be an indication of future realized loss, which could reduce
our income available to make distributions.

As a BDC, we are required to carry our investmanimarket value or, if no market value is ascedili@, at the fair value
as determined in good faith by our Board of Diregfoursuant to a valuation methodology approvedunBoard of Directors.
Decreases in the market values or fair values pfrai@stments will be recorded as unrealized las&esinrealized loss in our
loan portfolio could be an indication of a porttbiompany’s inability to meet its repayment obligas with respect to the
affected loans. This could result in realized Isssethe future and ultimately in reductions of awome available to pay
dividends or interest and principal on our secesitind could cause you to lose all or part of ymegstment.

We may experience fluctuations in our quarterly amthnual operating results and credit spreads.

We could experience fluctuations in our quarterig annual operating results due to a number obfacsome of which are
beyond our control, including our ability to makeéstments in companies that meet our investméatier the interest rate
payable on the debt securities we acquire (whichdcstem from the general level of interest ratesdit spreads, or both), the
default rate on such securities, prepayment upeitrigpgering of covenants in our middle market as well as our CLO
Funds, our level of expenses, variations in anéhgnof the recognition of realized and unrealizaghg or losses, the degree to
which we encounter competition in our markets amdegal economic conditions. As a result of thestofa, results for any
period should not be relied upon as being indieati’performance in future periods.

We are exposed to risks associated with changesterest rates and spreads.

Changes in interest rates may have a substantjiatime impact on our investments, the value ofsmaurities and our rate
of return on invested capital. A reduction in thierest spreads on new investments could alsodrae€lverse impact on our
net interest income. An increase in interest ratesd decrease the value of any investments wewbicdh earn fixed interest
rates, including mezzanine securities and highdyieinds, and also could increase our interest esgy¢nereby decreasing our
net income. An increase in interest rates due tm@ease in credit spreads, regardless of gemgegiest rate fluctuations,
could also negatively impact the value of any itwents we hold in our portfolio.

In addition, an increase in interest rates avalablinvestors could make an investment in ourrééesiless attractive than
alternative investments, a situation which coulibie the value of our securities. Conversely, ae#ese in interest rates may
have an adverse impact on our returns by requirinp seek lower yields on our debt investmentshgnidcreasing the risk
that our portfolio companies will prepay our
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debt investments, resulting in the need to redepépjtal at potentially lower rates. A decreasmarket interest rates may also
adversely impact our returns on idle funds, whiduld reduce our net investment income.

We borrow money, which magnifies the potential fgain or loss on amounts invested and may incredse fisk of investing
in us.

Borrowings, also known as leverage, magnify thepal for gain or loss on amounts invested anghefore, increase the
risks associated with investing in our common stdkk have issued senior securities, and in thedunay borrow from, or
issue additional senior securities (such as prefieor convertible securities or debt securitiespsmks and other lenders and
investors. Subject to prevailing market conditioms,intend to grow our portfolio of assets by magsadditional capital,
including through the prudent use of leverage abéddl to us. Lenders and holders of such seniorisiesuwvould have fixed
dollar claims on our assets that are superioréctaims of our common stockholders. Leverage ieegaly considered a
speculative investment technigue. Any increasalimimcome in excess of interest payable on ourtanténg indebtedness
would cause our net income to increase more thaoutd have had we not incurred leverage, while @gegrease in our income
would cause net income to decline more sharply thaould have had we not incurred leverage. Sudbhdaine could
negatively affect our ability to make distributiots addition, our common stockholders will beag thurden of any increase in
our expenses as a result of leverage. There can hssurance that our leveraging strategy willuzeassful.

Our outstanding indebtedness imposes, and additi@te we may incur in the future will likely impesfinancial and
operating covenants that restrict our businessitiesi, including limitations that could hinder aaipility to finance additional
loans and investments or to make the distributieqsiired to maintain our status as a RIC. A failoradd new debt facilities
or issue additional debt securities or other ewidsrof indebtedness in lieu of or in addition testmng indebtedness could have
a material adverse effect on our business, finnoiadition or results of operations.

It is unclear how increased regulatory oversight duchanges in the method for determining LIBOR maifect the value of
the financial obligations to be held or issued by that are linked to LIBOR, or how such changes ddaffect our results of
operations or financial condition.

As a result of concerns about the accuracy of #heutation of LIBOR, a number of British Bankerssgociation, or BBA,
member banks entered into settlements with cerégjnlators and law enforcement agencies with regpebe alleged
manipulation of LIBOR, and there are ongoing inigegions by regulators and governmental authoritiesrious jurisdictions.
Following a review of LIBOR conducted at the requsEghe U.K. government, on September 28, 201&menendations for
reforming the setting and governing of LIBOR wegkeased, which are referred to as the Wheatleyekevihe Wheatley
Review made a number of recommendations for chamghgespect to LIBOR, including the introductiohS-5 statutory
regulation of LIBOR, the transfer of responsibility LIBOR from the BBA to an independent admiréstir, changes to the
method of the compilation of lending rates and megulatory oversight and enforcement mechanismeatersetting and a
reduction in the number of currencies and tenarsvidch LIBOR is published. Based on the Wheatleyiew and on a
subsequent public and governmental consultatioogzsy on March 25, 2013, the U.K. Financial Sesvisethority published
final rules for the U.K. Financial Conduct Authgt#t regulation and supervision of LIBOR, which aeéerred to as the FCA
Rules. In particular, the FCA Rules include requieaits that (1) an independent LIBOR administratonitor and survey
LIBOR submissions to identify breaches of practiandards and/or potentially manipulative behawdad (2) firms submitting
data to LIBOR establish and maintain a clear cotlof interest policy and appropriate systemsamdrols. The FCA Rules
took effect on April 2, 2013.

It is uncertain what additional regulatory changewhat changes, if any, in the method of detemgriilBOR may be
required or made by the U.K. government or othetegamental or regulatory authorities. Accordinglpcertainty as to the
nature of such changes may adversely affect thkehéor or value of any LIBOR-linked securitiesals, derivatives and other
financial obligations or extensions of credit hbjdor due to us or on our overall financial coratitor results of operations. In
addition, any further changes or reforms to themgination or supervision of LIBOR may result iswdden or prolonged
increase or decrease in reported LIBOR, which chalk an adverse impact on the market for or vafzay
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LIBOR-linked securities, loans, derivatives andertfinancial obligations or extensions of creditdhey or due to us or on our
overall financial condition or results of operation

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our finasdiealth and our ability to respond to changesanr business.

With certain limited exceptions, we are only all@ite borrow amounts or issue senior securities s@hour asset
coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, is at le@8%@2immediately after such borrowing or issuance oADecember 31, 2014,
our asset coverage ratio was 211%. The amounvefdge that we employ in the future will dependan management’s and
our Board of Directors’ assessment of market ahérdiactors at the time of any proposed borrowirtere is no assurance that
a leveraging strategy will be successful. As altesfithe level of our leverage:

* our exposure to risk of loss is greater if we indebt or issue senior securities to finance investsibecause a decre
in the value of our investments has a greater hagehpact on our equity returns and, therefore mhlue of our
business if we did not use leverage;

« the decrease in our asset coverage ratio regdithm increased leverage and the covenants caat@indocuments
governing our indebtedness (which may impose ass&rage or investment portfolio composition reguoients that a
more stringent than those imposed by the 1940 l&et) our flexibility in planning for, or reactingp, changes in our
business and industry, as a result of which weccbalrequired to liquidate investments at an inoppe time;

e we are required to dedicate a portion of our dkst to interest payments, limiting the availatyilof cash for dividends
and other purposes; and

< our ability to obtain additional financing in thigture may be impaired.

We cannot be sure that our leverage will not hareaterial adverse effect on us. In addition, wencame sure that
additional financing will be available when requirer, if available, will be on terms satisfactooyus. Further, even if we are
able to obtain additional financing, we may be regflito use some or all of the proceeds therecépay our outstanding
indebtedness.

Because we intend to continue to distribute subdtalty all of our income and net realized capitabgns to our stockholders,
we will need additional capital to finance our grdiu

In order to continue to qualify as a RIC, to avpayment of excise taxes and to minimize or avoighpant of income taxes,
we intend to continue to distribute to our stockleos substantially all of our net ordinary inconne aealized net capital gains
except for certain net long-term capital gains @hhive may retain, pay applicable income taxes vefipect thereto, and elect
to treat as deemed distributions to our stockhsldéys a BDC, in order to incur new debt, we aneagally required to meet a
coverage ratio of total assets to total seniorsges, which includes all of our borrowings andyameferred stock we may
issue in the future, of at least 200%, as meadunatkdiately after issuance of such security. Taguirement limits the amount
that we may borrow. Because we will continue todhespital to grow our loan and investment portfalios limitation may
prevent us from incurring debt and require us saésadditional equity at a time when it may bediisatageous to do so. We
cannot assure you that debt and equity financitigowiavailable to us on favorable terms, or ataald debt financings may be
restricted by the terms of such borrowings. Alsadusiness development company, we generallyangermitted to issue
equity securities priced below net asset valueauttstockholder approval. If additional funds aot available to us, we could
be forced to curtail or cease new lending and imuest activities.

23




TABLE OF CONTENTS

We may from time to time expand our business thraowrquisitions, which could disrupt our business dharm our
financial condition.

We may pursue potential acquisitions of, and inwesits in, businesses complementary to our busaresérom time to
time engage in discussions regarding such posadgjeisitions. For example, in February 2012, wemetad the acquisition of
Trimaran Advisors. Such acquisition and any otleejusitions we may undertake involve a number sKgj including:

« failure of the acquired businesses to achievedhelts we expect;

* substantial cash expenditures;

« diversion of capital and management attentiomfaperational matters;

e our inability to retain key personnel of the aicgd businesses;

< incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities aisfs associated with unanticipated events oilifegs; and

< the potential disruption and strain on our erigtbusiness and resources that could result franplanned growth and
continuing integration of our acquisitions.

If we fail to properly evaluate acquisitions or @ments, we may not achieve the anticipated ksradfsuch acquisitions,
we may incur costs in excess of what we anticipatd, management resources and attention may beedivieom other
necessary or valuable activities. Any acquisitiaoluding the Trimaran Advisors acquisition, may result in short-term or
long-term benefits to us. If we are unable to irdég or successfully manage any business that guérac we may not realize
anticipated cost savings, improved efficienciesemenue growth, which may result in reduced prbfiiy or operating losses.

Our Board of Directors may change our investmentjettive, operating policies and strategies withquior notice or
stockholder approval.

Our Board of Directors has the authority to modifywaive certain of our operating policies andtsiyées without prior
notice and without stockholder approval. Howevesemt stockholder approval, we may not change @h&r@ of our business
S0 as to cease to be, or withdraw our electioa &)C. We cannot predict the effect any changesitcurrent operating
policies and strategies would have on our busiaadsoperating results. Nevertheless, the effecisadaersely affect our
business and they could negatively impact ourtgtih pay you dividends and could cause you to &kser part of your
investment in our securities.

Pending legislation may allow us to incur additiohkeverage.

As a BDC under the 1940 Act, we are generally moimtted to incur indebtedness unless immediatidy auch borrowing
we have an asset coverage for total borrowings leflaat 200% (i.e., the amount of debt may not ead#% of the value of our
assets). Recent legislation introduced in the H&ise of Representatives, if eventually passed|dwoiodify this section of
the 1940 Act and increase the amount of debt thsinkss development companies may incur by modjfthie percentage from
200% to 150%, as proposed. As a result, we maypleeta incur additional indebtedness in the futame therefore your risk of
an investment in our securities may increase.

Our businesses may be adversely affected by liigaand regulatory proceedings.

From time to time, we may be subject to legal axtias well as various regulatory, governmentallawdenforcement
inquiries, investigations and subpoenas, includalating to the restatement described elsewhett@srAnnual Report. In any
such claims or actions, demands for substantialetaoy damages may be asserted against us and sudtyimefinancial
liability or an adverse effect on our reputationceng investors. We may be unable to accurately estirour exposure to
litigation risk when we record balance sheet resefor probable loss contingencies. As a resujtraserves we establish to
cover any settlements or judgments may not becseffi to cover our actual financial exposure, whitdy have a material
impact on our results of operations or financiatdidon. In regulatory enforcement matters, claforsdisgorgement, the
imposition of penalties and the imposition of othemedial sanctions are possible.
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Regulations governing our operation as a BDC affemir ability to, and the way in which we, raise atdnal capital.

Our business requires a substantial amount ofiadditcapital. We may acquire additional capitahfrthe issuance of
senior securities or other indebtedness, the issuahadditional shares of our common stock or feamuritization transactions.
However, we may not be able to raise additionaitabim the future on favorable terms or at all. ¥day issue debt securities or
preferred securities, which we refer to collectvas “senior securities,” and we may borrow morreynfbanks or other
financial institutions, up to the maximum amountmpigted by the 1940 Act. The 1940 Act permits ussgue senior securities
or incur indebtedness only in amounts such thabeset coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, equitdsist 200% immediately
after such issuance or incurrence. With respecettain types of senior securities, we must makeigions to prohibit any
dividend distribution to our stockholders or thpurchase of certain of our securities, unless wetrire applicable asset
coverage ratios at the time of the dividend distidn or repurchase. If the value of our asset$imes; we may be unable to
satisfy the asset coverage test. Furthermore, moyats that we use to service our indebtednessdamilbe available for
distributions to our common stockholders.

All of the costs of offering and servicing such tlebpreferred stock (if issued by us in the fujumecluding interest or
preferential dividend payments thereon, will bert@oby our common stockholders. The interests ohtiéers of any debt or
preferred stock we may issue will not necessaelyaligned with the interests of our common stocttéd. In particular, the
rights of holders of our debt or preferred stocketceive interest, dividends or principal repaymeifitbe senior to those of our
common stockholders. Also, in the event we isseégpred stock, the holders of such preferred statkhave the ability to
elect two members of our board of directors. Initait, we may grant a lender a security interest significant portion or all
of our assets, even if the total amount we maydvofrom such lender is less than the amount of sewther’s security interest
in our assets. In no event, however, will any leriddaus have any veto power over, or any vote watipect to, any change in
our, or approval of any new, investment objectivéngestment policies or strategies.

We are not generally able to issue and sell oumgomstock at a price below net asset value peeskiée may, however,
sell our common stock at a price below the themerumet asset value of our common stock if ourdo# directors determines
that such sale is in the best interests of KCAPimnstockholders, and our stockholders approvéa sate, which they did in
2014. In any such case, the price at which ourrgexsiare to be issued and sold may not be lessadlhprice which, in the
determination of our board of directors, closelpmpximates the market value of such securities @y distributing
commission or discount). We are also generally ibitdd under the 1940 Act from issuing securitiesvertible into voting
securities without obtaining the approval of ouisérg stockholders. In addition to issuing sedesito raise capital as
described above; we may securitize a portion ofdhas generate cash for funding new investmehige lare unable to
successfully securitize our loan portfolio our &pito grow our business and fully execute our beass strategy and our
earnings (if any) may be adversely affected. Moegpgven successful securitization of our loanfpbiot might expose us to
losses, as the residual loans in which we do ribinserests tend to be those that are riskier mode apt to generate losses.

Changes in the laws or regulations governing ourdiness and the business of our Asset Manager Adfiis, or changes in
the interpretations thereof, and any failure by as our Asset Manager Affiliates to comply with the$aws or regulations,
could negatively affect the profitability of our @pations.

Changes in the laws or regulations or the integpi@ts of the laws and regulations that govern BOR&gjistered
Investment Advisers (such as our Asset Managetidtffis), RICs or non-depository commercial lenaensld significantly
affect our operations and our cost of doing busin@#e are subject to federal, state and local Evdsregulations as well as the
rules of the stock exchange on which our securitiedisted, and are subject to judicial and adstiative decisions that affect
our operations, including our loan originations ximaum interest rates, fees and other charges,adisads to portfolio
companies, the terms of secured transactions,ctiolteand foreclosure procedures and other tragetipes. The various
regulatory bodies, including the SEC and the NASDBIQbal Select Market, that administer these lamég r@gulations have
issued a significant number of new and increasigglyplex requirements and regulations over thesmaf the last several
years and continue to develop additional regulation
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In addition, as registered investment advisersAsset Manager Affiliates are subject to new anidtang regulations,
regulatory risks, costs and expenses associatbdopérating as registered investment adviserathgtlimit their ability to
operate, structure or expand their businesseifutire. If these laws, regulations or decisidmsngye, or if we expand our
business into jurisdictions that have adopted rstregent requirements than those in which we atlyeeonduct business, we
may have to incur significant expenses in ordeatmply or we might have to restrict our operatidnsaddition, if we do not
comply with applicable laws, regulations and dexisi we may lose licenses needed for the condwmirdbusiness and be
subject to civil fines and criminal penalties, afywvhich could have a material adverse effect upanbusiness, results of
operations or financial condition.

Moreover, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and s<Toner Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) hasresed and may
significantly increase the regulation of the fineshservices industry. The Dodd-Frank Act contartsoad set of provisions
designed to govern the practices and oversighhahtial institutions and other participants in fimancial markets. One such
provision, Section 619 of the Dodd-Frank Act, conmigaeferred to as the Volcker Rule, contains éenaohibitions and
restrictions on the ability of a “banking entity” which includes insured depository institutionspbaolding companies,
foreign banking entities regulated by the FedeeddRve Board and their respective affiliates —mmbank financial
company supervised by the Federal Reserve to engageprietary trading and have certain inter@ster relationships with
certain private funds (“covered funds”). Under fimal regulations implementing the Volcker Rule,igthwere adopted in
December 2013, many CLOs will be covered fundkeftinvest, or are permitted to invest, in asstterdhan loans, certain
cash equivalents and interest rate or currencydseds a result, many banking entities, includirangnU.S. and non-U.S.
broker-dealers with affiliated banks, may be unablmvest in, or in some cases to make a markehésecurities of CLOs in
which we have invested, which may reduce liquidityhese securities and have a material adversetadh their valuation.
Moreover, the Volcker Rule regulations may afféxet market for CLOs such that our Asset Manageliaffis may be unable
to establish, or to obtain warehouse funding few I€LOs that would be covered funds. If our Assenilger Affiliates
establish CLOs that are structured not to be cavineds and thus do not permit investments in ¢caaty assets such as
corporate bonds, asset-backed securities or symtheestments, and we invest in such CLOs, thétaloif our Asset Manager
Affiliates to manage such CLOs will be constraifgdthose limitations, which could materially adwadysaffect any
investments we make in such CLOs.

In October 2014, the SEC, the FDIC, the FederaéResand certain other prudential banking regusaémiopted final rules
that will mandate risk retention for securitizaspmcluding CLOs, beginning on December 24, 20drider the final risk-
retentions rules, our Asset Manager Affiliatesganajority-owned affiliate of such entities, incing the Company) may be
required to hold interests equal to 5% of the ¥alue of any CLO they sponsor (unless the CLO its/enly in certain
qualifying loans, which we do not expect to be¢hse) and would be prohibited from selling or hedghose interests in
accordance with the limitations on such sales dghs set forth in the final rule. Our Asset Managditiates (or a majority-
owned affiliate of such entities, including the Guamy) will need to have the requisite capital ttdhsuch interests as a
condition to their ability to sponsor new CLOs, dhd restrictions on hedging such interests maatergreater risk with respect
to those interests.

Our Asset Manager Affiliates’ (or a majority ownaffiliate’s) investments in such CLOs, or theirhildy to invest in such
CLOs (and thus inability to sponsor them) couldnelaave a material adverse effect upon our businesslts of operations or
financial condition.

In April 2010, the SEC proposed revised rules fmed-backed securities offerings (“Regulation AB that, if adopted,
would substantially change the disclosure, repgréind offering process for public and private dffgs of asset-backed
securities, including CLOs. The proposed ruleadidpted, would have required significant additiafiatlosures and would
have altered the safe-harbor standards for thatgriplacement of asset-backed securities to impésenational requirements
similar to those that would apply to registeredljpubfferings of such securities. The applicatidrsoch informational
requirements to CLOs, which have not historicaldeib publicly registered, was unclear. On Augus®14, the SEC adopted
a set of Regulation AB Il final rules that was lied to asset-backed securities that were publédyjstered. These rules impose
changes to the offering process for publicly remgesti asset-backed securities and require discla$loan-level data for a
subset of classes addressed in the proposed buledo not at this time
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extend to privately offered CLOs. However, the SES indicated that many aspects of the rule prépadsaluding the
expansion of loan-level or grouped data disclosegeirements to additional asset classes and ta&lpe application of the
rules to private offerings of securities, remainl@nactive consideration. The timing of the adaptid any additional final
rules, their application to privately offered setias in general and to CLOs in particular, thetafscompliance with such
rules, and whether compliance would compromise netgry methods or strategies of our Asset Manadfdiates, is currently
unclear.

Other financial reform regulations, including regfidns requiring clearing and margining of swapsections, which may
affect our ability to enter into hedging transasipchanges in the definition and regulation of sadity pool operators and
commodity trading advisors, which could subject Aaset Manager Affiliates to additional regulatiptesreraged lending
guidance that may affect the ways in which banknsgtutions originate the loans in which we and affiliates invest;
heightened regulatory capital and liquidity reqmiemts for banks that may affect our ability to barron reasonable terms; and
non-US regulations of financial market participathizt may overlap, expand upon or be inconsistdit WS regulations may
all have material adverse effects on our business.

If we do not invest a sufficient portion of our asts in Qualifying Assets, we could be precludediirinvesting according to
our current business strategy.

As a BDC, we may not acquire any assets otherhalifying Assets for purposes of the 1940 Act sgjet the time of
and after giving effect to such acquisition, aste&0% of our total assets are Qualifying Asse¢e ‘®tem 1: Business —
Regulation”.

We believe that most of the senior loans and méaeanvestments that we acquire constitute “qualifyassets.” However,
investments in the securities of CLO Funds genedidinot constitute “qualifying assets,” and we nrayest in other assets that
are not “qualifying assets.” If we do not invesudficient portion of our assets in “qualifying ats” we may be precluded
from investing in what we believe are attractiveeistments, which would have a material adverseedie our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Ehesstrictions could also prevent us from makinggiments in the equity
securities of CLO Funds, which could limit our Asbanager Affiliates’ ability to organize new CLQuRds. Similarly, these
rules could prevent us from making follow-on inveents in existing portfolio companies (which corgdult in the dilution of
our pasition).

Our ability to enter into transactions with our afffates is restricted.

We are prohibited under the 1940 Act from partitiigain certain transactions with certain of ouiliftes without the prior
approval of the members of our independent direaod, in some cases, the SEC. Any person that, @iestly or indirectly,
5% or more of our outstanding voting securitiesus affiliate for purposes of the 1940 Act and we generally prohibited
from buying or selling any securities (other tham securities) from or to such affiliate, abser giior approval of our
independent directors. The 1940 Act also prohiteigain “joint” transactions with certain of ouffidates, which could include
investments in the same portfolio company (whe#ttéhe same or different times), without prior apyad of our independent
directors and, in some cases, the SEC. If a pexeguires more than 25% of our voting securitiesyiliebe prohibited from
buying or selling any security (other than any siégwf which we are the issuer) from or to suchsos or certain of that
person’s affiliates, or entering into prohibitedhjitransactions with such person, absent the ppproval of the SEC. Similar
restrictions limit our ability to transact businegish our officers or directors or their affiliates a result of these restrictions,
we may be prohibited from buying or selling anywséy (other than any security of which we are igguer) from or to any
portfolio company of a private equity fund managgdur investment adviser without the prior apptafehe SEC, which
may limit the scope of investment opportunitied thauld otherwise be available to us.
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We have received certain exemptive relief from$eC to permit us to co-invest, subject to the cioms of the relief
granted by the SEC, with other funds managed byAsaet Manager Affiliates in a manner consisterthwiur investment
objectives, positions, policies, strategies anttict®ns as well as regulatory requirements areiopertinent factors. The
conditions of such exemptive relief may limit otnility or the ability of our Asset Manager Affilias, each a registered
investment adviser, to operate, structure or explaeid business in the future.

A failure on our part to maintain our status as alBC would significantly reduce our operating flexility.

If we fail to maintain our status as a BDC, we ntilgh regulated as a closed-end investment comanyst required to
register under the Investment Company Act, whiclulbsubject us to additional regulatory restrici@md significantly
decrease our operating flexibility. In additionyasuch failure could cause an event of default uode outstanding
indebtedness, which could have a material advéfset®n our business, financial condition or résolf operations.

We will be subject to corporate-level U.S. federaiome taxes if we are unable to qualify as a RI@der Subchapter M of
the Code.

To maintain RIC tax treatment under the Code, wstrmeet the following annual distribution, inconoeiice and asset
diversification requirements:

* The annual distribution requirement for a RICI\w# satisfied if we distribute to our stockholdersan annual basis at
least 90% of our net ordinary income and realizetdshort-term capital gains in excess of realizetdang-term capital
losses, if any. Because we use debt financing,re/subject to certain asset coverage ratio reqangsrunder the 1940
Act and are (and may in the future become) sulbpecertain financial covenants under loan and tiglieements that
could, under certain circumstances, restrict usifneaking distributions necessary to satisfy thérithistion
requirement. If we are unable to obtain cash froheosources, we could fail to qualify for RIC tagatment and thus
become subject to corporate-level U.S. federalrmetaxes.

e The source income requirement will be satisffagld obtain at least 90% of our income for eachr yean dividends,
interest, gains from the sale of stock or secuwritiesimilar sources.

e The asset diversification requirement will besfad if we meet certain asset diversificationuiegments at the end of
each quarter of our taxable year. To satisfy thigiirement, at least 50% of the value of our asaets consist of cash,
cash equivalents, U.S. Government securities, gissuof other RICs, and other acceptable secariiad no more than
25% of the value of our assets can be investedeirsécurities, other than U.S. government secsigtiesecurities of
other RICs, of one issuer, of two or more issuleas are controlled, as determined under applic@blge rules, by us
and that are engaged in the same or similar otectlaades or businesses or of certain “qualifiglliply traded
partnerships.” If we do not satisfy the diversifioa requirements as of the end of any quartenwllenot lose our
status as RIC provided that (i) we satisfied tlirinements in a prior quarter and (ii) our failtwesatisfy the
requirements in the current quarter is not duehole or in part to an acquisition of any securityther property.

Failure to meet these requirements may result irhaving to dispose of certain investments quidklgrder to prevent the
loss of RIC status. Because most of our investmeititbe in private companies, and therefore wélibiquid, any such
dispositions could be made at disadvantageousspaice could result in substantial losses. Moreaf/ame fail to maintain RIC
tax treatment for any reason and are subject foocate-level U.S. federal income taxes, the ramyliaxes could substantially
reduce our net assets, the amount of income alailabdistribution and the amount of our distriloms. Such a failure would
have a material adverse effect on us and on ookistiders.
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Risks Associated with Our Information Technology Sgtems

We rely on various information technology systemsanage our operations. Information technologyesys are subject to
numerous risks including unanticipated operatirgpfams, system failures, rapid technological chafajkire of the systems
that operate as anticipated, reliance on thirdypartnputer hardware, software and IT service prergdcomputer viruses,
telecommunication failures, data breaches, defis¢xvice attacks, spamming, phishing attacks, egerghackers and other
similar disruptions, any of which could materiadigiversely impact our consolidated financial conditand results of
operations. Additional risks include, but are notifed to, the following:

Disruptions in current systems or difficulties imtegrating new systems.

We regularly maintain, upgrade, enhance or repdaicenformation technology systems to support aisitbess strategies
and provide business continuity. Replacing legasyesns with successor systems, making changessiingxsystems or
acquiring new systems with new functionality hawedrent risks including disruptions, delays, oficlifities that may impair
the effectiveness of our information technologyteyss.

If we are unable to maintain the availability of alelectronic data systems and safeguard the segusitour data, our ability
to conduct business may be compromised, which impar liquidity, disrupt our business, damage oueputation and cause
losses.

Cybersecurity refers to the combination of techgs, processes, and procedures established &cpioformation
technology systems and data from unauthorized acaéiack, or damage. We are subject to cybersgcigks. Information
cyber security risks have significantly increasedecent years and, while we have not experienogdraterial losses relating
to cyber attacks or other information security bress, we could suffer such losses in the future.ddmputer systems,
software and networks may be vulnerable to unaigédraccess, computer viruses or other maliciode emd other events that
could have a security impact. If one or more ofhseeents occur, this potentially could jeopardiaafidential and other
information, including nonpublic personal infornmatiand sensitive business data, processed and $to@nd transmitted
through, our computer systems and networks, omaibe cause interruptions or malfunctions in ouenagions or the
operations of our customers or counterparties, lvbauld result in significant losses or reputatlatemage. This could result
in significant losses, reputational damage, lifimatregulatory fines or penalties, or otherwiseaadely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. Pdyand information security laws and regulationrdes, and compliance with
those changes, may result in cost increases dsysstem changes and the development of new adnaitivgtprocesses. In
addition, we may be required to expend significdditional resources to modify our protective measand to investigate and
remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures agigiom operational and security risks. We curredtiynot maintain insurance
coverage relating to cybersecurity risks, and wg brarequired to expend significant additional teses to modify our
protective measures or to investigate and remedidtesrabilities or other exposures, and we maguigect to litigation and
financial losses that are not fully insured.

Third parties with which we do business may alsadigrces of cybersecurity or other technologicksi We outsource
certain functions and these relationships allowtfierstorage and processing of our informationyelsas customer,
counterparty, employee and borrower informationiléfve engage in actions to reduce our exposurdtieg from
outsourcing, ongoing threats may result in unautkedraccess, loss, exposure or destruction of datather cybersecurity
incidents, with increased co